FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/11/2024 4:15 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/12/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 57943-0-II

Case #: 1032510

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LOLA FELIPA LUNA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John Kannin WSBA #27315 Kannin Law Firm P.S. 119 SW 152nd Street Burien, WA 98166 (206) 574-0202 Aaron P. Orheim WSBA #47670 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Appellant Lola Felipa Luna

A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This case presents questions of substantial public importance having to do with social media "evidence" offered under ER 404 to convict a teenager of murder. RAP 13.4(b)(4). In mishandling this and other evidence in a one-sided manner, the lower courts created conflicts with precedent that go to the heart of Lola Felipa Luna's constitutional right to receive a fair trial and present a defense, warranting review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3). Lola seeks review of the opinion in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II filed its opinion on June 11, 2024. See appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the misapplication of ER 404 to admit prejudicial social media evidence and exclude relevant evidence in support of a defendant's self-defense argument in violation of precedent and public policy warrant review and reversal by this Court?
 - 2. Did a minor knowingly waive her Miranda

rights and were her statements properly used at trial, even though she was not provided the opportunity to consult a lawyer before her waiver, and RCW 13.40.740(3), which was in effect at the time of trial, bans the use of such statements made by juveniles without prior consultation with a lawyer?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lola Felipe Luna was 16 years old when 17-year-old S.P.-T. showed up to Lola's house, uninvited, wanting to fight. Lola had never met S.P.-T. in person before; she only knew her through social media. RP 1303-04. S.P.-T.'s BAC was .082 that morning, and she was upset with Lola for reasons that were never fully explained. CP 176, 279-92, 350; RP 101-04.

Five months earlier, when Lola was 15 years old, S.P.-T.'s friend, H.D., and Lola had a short, physical fight at a mall over some "drama about a boy." RP 448. The fight ended quickly, and no one was hurt. RP 452. No weapon was used. Ex. 100. Lola and H.D.'s "drama" essentially ended there; H.D. testified that "after a few months... things kind of cooled off and me and Lola said happy birthday to each other." RP 462.

Now, five months later, S.P.-T. told H.D. she wanted to fight Lola. RP 456-57. While the mall fight was "a part of" why S.P.-T. wanted to fight Lola, there was some other "drama" between the two that H.D. could not recall "specifically." RP 456-57. H.D. got Lola's address for S.P.-T. by ruse, texting her saying H.D. wanted to fight. RP 457. S.P.-T. went to Lola's house accompanied by two older girls. RP 294.

Lola was surprised when S.P.-T. showed up uninvited, let herself into Lola's fenced yard, and began confronting Lola. Ex. 103; RP 465. S.P.-T. was ten months older, bigger and stronger than Lola. Ex. 103; RP 1326-27.

Again, Lola only knew S.P.-T. by reputation and through social media. RP 1303-04. Lola had seen posts that caused her to fear S.P.-T. RP 1044-96. Along with posts where S.P.-T. generally glorified illegal activity, Lola saw posts glorifying guns and gang activity. CP 279-92; RP 1044-1152 (offer of proof). One post in particular threatened Lola, indicating that S.P.-T. put a "greenlight on Lola" and "a whole gang of

[motherfuckers] [was] ready to take [Lola] out." Ex. 163.

Lola told S.P.-T. she did not want to fight. Ex. 103; RP 995, 1080-81, 1331. Lola had a three-inch pocketknife she habitually carried ready behind her thigh, should she need to defend herself. Ex. 33, 103; RP 385, 1320. Lola did not know if S.P.-T. had a weapon "underneath her hoodie or her sweatpants." RP 1333.

S.P.-T. attacked, indisputably throwing the first blow at Lola's head. Ex. 103. All witnesses agreed that S.P.-T. was the first aggressor. *E.g.*, RP 227. Lola did not know it, but a friend videotaped the fight. Ex. 103.

The video showed S.P.-T. punching Lola's head and throat *before* Lola began slashing out with her pocketknife. Ex. 103; RP 1332. S.P.-T. did not stop, throwing around 38 punches

¹ In Washington, there is no duty to retreat. *State v. Williams*, 81 Wn. App. 738, 741 n.1, 916 P.2d 445 (1996). A person also has a right to arm themselves when at home. RCW 9.41.270(3)(a) (cannot unlawfully "carry, exhibit, display, or draw" a weapon when at one's "place of abode").

during the attack, mostly to Lola's head and neck. Ex. 103; RP 1334. S.P.-T. swung Lola around the yard filled with hazards and pinned Lola to a metal fence. *Id.* Lola's defenses seemed to have no effect. RP 1336-37 ("It didn't seem to matter that I was slashing out at her at all.").²

The attack ended with S.P.-T. throwing four *unanswered* punches, before disengaging. Ex. 103; RP 1007 (the "fight ends when [S.P.-T.] stops punching Lola."). S.P.-T. then walked away, unaided, down 14 steps to the car on the street below. Ex. 103; RP 1336. S.P.-T. needed a medical airlift to Harborview in Seattle, but that did not occur for nearly two hours, RP 502-03, and she passed away.

At trial, many one-sided evidentiary errors denied Lola a fair trial:

1. The trial court admitted a video of the fight Lola had at the mall with H.D. posted to TikTok overlayed with violent

² S.P.-T's wounds suggested "holding an opponent or an assailant at bay or sort of a defensive-type action." RP 1254-58.

rap music. Ex. 100. The court determined that this fit the *res* gestate exception to ER 404(b)'s prohibition on bad acts evidence even though it occurred months before S.P.-T.'s attack.

2. The trial court admitted an Instagram reply Lola wrote to a group asking "what happened to all that energy saying you was gonna stab us..." to which Lola allegedly responded "no the stabbing energy has never left." Ex. 89; RP 968-74. The court also admitted a TikTok video where Lola holds a kitchen knife with the caption "when those purge sirens go off know exactly what girls house im [sic] going to." Ex. 99, RP 976-98. Lola posted that around Halloween, months before S.P.-T.'s attack, about a TikTok trend about *The Purge*, a popular horror movie. *Id*.

The State hammered on this social media evidence, arguing that Lola was "fixated," "obsessed about stabbing someone," and S.P.-T. showing up uninvited "must have seemed like a gift falling right in her lap, the *perfect opportunity* for her to do just what she had been building up to do" so she "seiz[ed]

the opportunity she had been waiting for." RP 188-89, 1648 (emphasis added).

- 3. The court excluded the social media posts Lola saw before the attack indicating S.P.-T glorified illegal activities, including gang violence (Exhibits 159, 161D, 161E, 161H, 161K, 162, 164, and 165), and had put a "greenlight" attack out on Lola with a "gang of [motherfuckers]" ready to take Lola out. Ex. 163.
- 4. The trial court excluded evidence that S.P.-T. was under the influence of alcohol when she attacked Lola, which Lola sought to introduce as *res gestae* evidence of her own to explain why S.P.-T. was violent and would not relent when Lola used defensive force. RP 893.
- 5. The trial court allowed the jury to consider statements Lola made to police during an interrogation right after the attack, Ex. 102; RP 617-83, even though she was not

provided an attorney before she allegedly waived her *Miranda*³ rights. *See* appellant's br. at 22-25, 29-30, 63-69. RCW 13.40.740(3), which was passed after Lola was questioned but before she went to trial, banned the use of such statements against a minor at trial.

Lola was convicted of second-degree murder, and Division II affirmed. It affirmed the court's evidentiary rulings, except it determined that admitting the "stabbing energy" and "Purge" posts were harmless error.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) One-Sided ER 404 Rulings, Largely Involving Social Media Evidence, Conflict with Precedent and Denied Lola a Fair Trial
 - (a) <u>Division II's Res Gestae Analysis Untenably</u>
 <u>Lowers the Bar to Admit Bad Acts Evidence</u>
 Against a Teenager on Trial for Murder

Division II was wrong to conclude that the mall fight was

³ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

admissible *res gestate* evidence because it "played a role" in telling the story of the charged offense. Op. 13. Division II's opinion creates untenable conflicts warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

"ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Courts must carefully scrutinize such evidence, for fear that "the minute peg of relevancy will be entirely obscured by the dirty linen hung upon it." *State v. Goebel*, 36 Wn.2d 367, 379, 218 P.2d 300 (1950). "A trial court should resolve doubts as to admissibility of prior bad acts character evidence under ER 404(b) in favor of exclusion." *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 458, 284 P.3d 793 (2012).

"Under the res gestae or same transaction exception, evidence of other crimes is admissible to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its *immediate context* of happenings

P.2d 505 (1999) (emphasis added). The prior act must be a "link in the chain of an unbroken sequence of events surrounding the charged offense." *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 571, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) (quotation omitted). Testimony about the mall fight with another girl six months prior was not admissible under the *res gestae* theory.

The Mall Fight Was Too Remote in Time and Fact. The mall fight was not an "unbroken sequence of events" or "near in time" to warrant admission. *Brown, supra*. Typical *res gestae* evidence involves other crimes or acts that "occurred within a few days or hours of the charged offenses." *State v. Botello-Garcia*, 193 Wn. App. 1037, 2016 WL 2347050, *7 (2016) (unpublished) (six-month-old incident in California inadmissible) (citing *Brown*, 132 Wn.2d at 541-48; *State v. Hughes*, 118 Wn. App. 713, 718-20, 725, 77 P.3d 681 (2003)).

Properly admitted *res gestate* cases contradict Division II's decision. For example, the State cited *State v. Thompson*, 47

Wn. App. 1, 733 P.2d 584 (1987), where the court allowed the jury to hear testimony that "in the hour just prior to the [allegedly self-defense] shooting" the defendant had threatened to use a gun two times at a bar. *Id.* at 4. This evidence was admissible under ER 404(b) because it showed a "a continuing course of provocative conduct" within an hour of the shooting. *Id.* at 12; *see also*, *State v. Tharp*, 27 Wn. App. 198, 200, 616 P.2d 693 (1980), *aff'd*, 96 Wn.2d 591 (1981) (items stolen during single-evening crime spree admissible to prove identity; defendant could not "insulate himself by committing a string of connected offenses").

Here, the mall fight with another girl was not a string of connected offenses or continued course of provocative conduct. It occurred *months* earlier. It concerned teenage "drama about a boy." Things had "cooled off" by the time S.P.-T. wanted to fight Lola, and the mall fight with H.D. was just *one reason* why S.P.-T. attacked after showing up to Lola's house by ruse. RP 456-57, 462. H.D. knew S.P.-T. had other motivations, but she

could or would not testify to them. *Id.*

The State relied on *State v. Sullivan*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 225, 491 P.3d 176 (2021), for the notion that prior bad act testimony is always admissible to complete the "story" of the crime even if it is remote in time and fact. Resp't br. at 28. Division II essentially agreed, holding that because the mall fight played "a role" in the charged offense it was admissible. Op. 13. That conflicts with precedent and sets the bar too low for prejudicial bad acts evidence, warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

Precedent instructs that "completing the story" does not allow the State to reach back to events that occurred months earlier, only those immediate in time and context so important as being "necessary" to tell the story "of the same transaction." *Fish*, 99 Wn. App. at 94. Even the *Sullivan* case dealt with prior bad acts occurring the *same night* as the charged offense. And the court merely reiterated that ER 404(b) "does not bar evidence of misconduct *that is close in time* to the crime presently charged and directly relevant to proving the crime." *Id.* at 235 (citing

treatise).

Again, "res gestae evidence is... restricted to proving the immediate context within which a charged crime took place... [t]o complete the story of the crime on trial by placing it in the context of nearby and nearly contemporaneous happenings." Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 576 (emphasis added); see also, e.g., State v. Warren, 134 Wn. App. 44, 62, 138 P.3d 1081 (2006), aff'd, 165 Wn.2d 17 (2008) (accord).

The six-month-old mall fight, when Lola was just 15, was not "nearby and nearly contemporaneous" context of S.P.-T's attack. *Id.* It was not part of the same transaction such that the jury needed to know about it – and watch an inflammatory video of it – to understand the whole story. Witnesses could have simply testified that no one was certain exactly why S.P.-T. wanted to fight, but Lola had a prior conflict with S.P.-T.'s friend and there was ill will on social media. Division II's opinion impermissibly lowers the bar for what is considered the "same transaction" for *res gestate* purposes the "necessary" information

a jury needs to understand it.

Res gestate is not a tool to admit highly prejudicial bad acts evidence using the meandering, months-long "drama" between schoolchildren, largely over social media, to convict a teenager of murder. "Completing a story" does not override Lola's right to a trial free from unnecessary and prejudicial ER 404(b) evidence. Review is warranted to reaffirm the proper standard for admitting such prejudicial evidence in future cases.

Res Gestae Evidence Is Particularly Concerning Given Lola's Age. This Court should also grant review to consider the res gestae doctrine in the context of Lola's age, just 15 when the mall fight occurred nearly six months before the charged offense.

As this Court and the United States Supreme Court⁴ have

⁴ See Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569–70, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005) (death penalty on a minor unconstitutional), *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010) (life without parole for non-homicidal offenses unconstitutional), and *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) (mandatory sentences of life without parole are unconstitutional).

explained, "studies reveal fundamental differences between adolescent and mature brains in the areas of risk and consequence assessment, impulse control, tendency toward antisocial behaviors, and susceptibility to peer pressure." *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 692, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). "Young people... have less ability to control their emotions, clearly identify consequences, and make reasoned decisions." *Id.* (quoting from *amici* brief of Washington Defender Association, *et al.*).

Thus, while it is already impermissible to use six-monthold bad acts as *res gestae* against an adult, it is exponentially prejudicial to use them against a 16-year-old defendant with a ninth-grade education. The State cannot reach back into adolescence, to show the jury juvenile bad acts merely because they "play[] a role" in telling the story of the charged offense. Op. 13. This is especially true in an era of smart phones, social media, and TikTok where children already struggle to make reasoned decisions and understand the consequences of their actions.

This issue of substantial public importance will recur in future trials involving children and teenagers who frequently use social media. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Video Was Unnecessary and Substantially Prejudicial. Even if it were permissible to generally discuss the mall fight, the jury did not need to see a TikTok video of it set to inflammatory music with violent lyrics. Fish, 99 Wn. App. at 94-95 (photographs of person with a gun inadmissible as res gestae when presence of the gun was "fully described" and the photo "added no information.")

H.D. could have simply testified that she had a conflict with Lola that S.P.-T. was upset about. No reasonable juror would be confused to learn that teenagers often have conflicts over friend or boy "drama." The jury did not need to know about the mall fight when Lola was 15 and watch a video of it set to rap lyrics, giving the impression Lola had a propensity for violence. *Matter of Quintero*, 29 Wn. App. 2d 254, 541 P.3d 1007 (2024)

(reversing because admitting violent lyrics poses "a significant risk that the jury would...conclude [a defendant] was a violent person who had a violent character and criminal propensity.") *Id.* at 299. The video was unnecessary; any doubt should have favored exclusion. *McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. at 458.

Lola Preserved Her *Res Gestae* Arguments. Division II dodged the merits of some arguments presented above, op. 11-14, but no preservation of error issue should preclude the Court from granting review.

Division II determined that Lola failed to object to testimony about the mall fight generally, only the video. Op. 12. But the State moved *pretrial* to admit the mall fight video as ER 404(b) evidence, to which Lola objected on the grounds that it did not meet the *res gestae* exception. Admitting the video *pretrial* necessarily admitted testimony about the fight and mooted any superfluous objection to discussing the fight itself.

Division II also ducked Lola's argument about age and *res gestate* evidence as unpreserved. Op. 14 n.4. But Lola argued at

trial the evidence was inadmissible and prejudicial given its remoteness in time, simply offered to make a "teenage girl" look like a criminal. CP 73; see also, CP 71-82, 122-26. Lola's appellate arguments merely elaborated this point, and meaningful review is not barred. Newcomer v. Masini, 45 Wn. App. 284, 287, 724 P.2d 1122 (1986) (appellant may "expand[] and refine[] details of an argument... presented at trial"); see also, Puerta v. United States, 121 F.3d 1338, 1341-42 (9th Cir. 1997) ("An argument is typically elaborated more articulately with more extensive authorities, on appeal than in the less focused and frequently more time pressured environment of trial court, and there is nothing wrong with that.").

This Court should grant review because Division II's opinion conflicts with precedent on an issue of substantial importance – using bad acts evidence, depicted in social media, to convict teenagers. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

(b) Division II's Analysis of the Social Media
Posts Lola Sought to Admit Showing S.P.T.'s Danger and Threat of Violence Conflicts
with Precedent and Violated Her
Constitutional Right to Present a SelfDefense Argument

The trial court erred in excluding social media posts that Lola saw and offered under ER 404(a)(2), that caused her to fear her attacker posed a danger and threatened Lola, putting a "greenlight" on Lola with "a whole gang of [motherfuckers]" ready to take Lola out. Ex. 163; CP 353-83; RP 1044-1213 (offer of proof).

Unlike ER 404(b), under ER 404(a)(2), an accused person may offer "[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime." This is often relevant in self-defense cases "[b]ecause the vital question is the reasonableness of the defendant's apprehension of danger, the jury must stand *as nearly as practicable in the shoes of the defendant.*" *State v. Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn. App. 306, 319, 402 P.3d 281 (2017), *review denied*, 190 Wn.2d 1005 (2018) (cleaned up) (emphasis

added). "Evidence of a victim's propensity toward violence that is known by the defendant is relevant... because such testimony tends to show the state of mind of the defendant... and to indicate whether [the defendant] had reason to fear bodily harm." *Id.* (cleaned up). "Thus, such evidence is admissible to show the defendant's reason for fear and the basis for acting in self-defense." *Id.* at 319-20.

A decedent's violent threat is "highly probative of [a] defense, and the Sixth Amendment right to present a defense thus requires admitting such highly probative evidence." *Id.* (citing *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720-21, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)). A court cannot exclude such "crucial evidence relevant to the central contention of a valid defense." *Id.*; *see also*, *State v. Janes*, 121 Wn.2d 220, 232-42 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (court had to consider evidence that the defendant had been abused in the past); *State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 595, 682 P.2d 312 (1984) ("The jury should have been instructed to consider the self-defense issue from the defendant's perspective in light of all that

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