FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/5/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 103251-0

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

## LOLA FELIPA LUNA, Petitioner.

### ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 57943-0-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 21-1-00094-18

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD M. ENRIGHT Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL SUTTON
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366

**RAICE** 

John Kannin john@kanninlaw.com

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should decline to accept review because Luna has failed to show that any of these considerations supports acceptance of review.

A. THE **COURT OF APPEALS CONCLUDED PROPERLY THAT** LUNA'S CLAIMS REGARDING THE MALL FIGHT AND HER AGE WERE NOT PRESERVED AND THAT THE TRIAL COURT **PROPERLY ADMITTED** THE MALL **FIGHT** EVIDENCE.

As a prefatory note, Luna contends that "One-Sided ER

404 Rulings" denied her a fair trial. Petition at 8. This hyperbole is simply not supported by the record at trial or in the opinion below.

Before trial, the State proposed the admission of seven items of evidence pursuant to ER 404(b):

- (1) A TikTok video of a fight involving Luna and HD in a mall. CP 36; Exh. 100.
- (2) Krystal Winkelman's statement that two weeks earlier, she had witnessed Luna arm herself with a large kitchen knife in preparation for a fight. CP 37.
- (3) A TikTok video Luna posted in which she stabbed at the camera with a large knife with a superimposed legend that read "once those purge sirens go off I know exactly what girls house im going to." CP 38; Exh 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "The Purge" is a film and multiple sequels in which "the country is a dystopia which observes an annual event known as 'the Purge,' in which all crime, including murder, is decriminalized for a 12-hour period." https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The Purge (viewed Aug. 30,

- (4) Instagram messages Luna posted regarding stabbing including: on January 10, 2021, "the stabbing energy has never left (loudly crying face emoji). I do wtf I want when tf I wanttt." CP 39; and a group chat on an unknown date in which Luna stated "ill stab all y'all." CP 41.
- (5) A text message in which Luna told another girl she "ill stab that hoe lmao." CP 44.
- (6) A TikTok message Luna sent to another user in which she stated "tell me you have 'options' and im stabbing you and all ur options." CP 46.
- (7) An Instagram post depicting Luna and her stepfather, wearing medical masks for the pandemic, "flipping off" the camera with their middle fingers extended. Luna's caption reads, "after all the crime shows i watch, murder seems so easy to get away with like how do they get caught are they that lazy." CP 46-47.

<sup>2023);</sup> see also 3RP 977-78.

The trial court ruled after hearing extensive argument from the parties. RP (9/9) 3-40. It ruled the mall fight video (Exh. 100) was admissible as part of the res gestae of the crime. RP (9/19) 41.

It ruled that the Purge video (Exh. 99), Instagram Post 1 ("stabbing energy"), and the texts regarding stabbing (offers of proof 5, 6 & 7) were relevant to show Luna's intent and state of mind, and that were more probative than prejudicial. RP (9/19) 42-44. The court reserved ruling on the second Instagram post unless more information could be provided as to when it occurred. RP (9/19) 43. When it was later offered at trial as Exhibit 91, based on testimony that it had been posted on November 3, 2020, Luna did not object. 3RP 966-67.

The court excluded Winkelman's proposed testimony on the grounds that it was more prejudicial than probative under ER 403. RP (9/19) 41. The court also rejected the argument that any of the proposed evidence was admissible to show a

common scheme or plan. RP (9/19) 42, 44.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals further held that "the trial court erred in admitting 'the Purge video' and the 'stabbing energy' comment under ER 404(b)." Plainly neither the trial nor appellate court issued one-sided rulings.

1. Luna fails to seriously address the primary holding of the Court of Appeals: that her present claims were not preserved for review.

Luna argues that the conclusion of the Court of Appeals that trial court properly admitting evidence of her attack on HD in the mall as res gestae evidence "creates untenable conflicts." Petition at 9. But she did not raise this issue the trial court. Although the Court of Appeals primarily held that the issue was not preserved, she does not seriously address that holding.

The primary holding of the Court of Appeals on the mall fight video, that her claim had not been raised in the trial court:

But Luna did not object to HD testifying about the fight on the grounds that it was irrelevant or would violate ER 404(b). In the trial court, Luna limited her 404(b) and relevancy objection to the

video of the fight. As it relates to HD's testimony, Luna lodged hearsay, foundation, and "asked and answered" objections, but she did not argue that evidence of the fight, writ large, was inadmissible as improper evidence of other bad acts or irrelevant due to the passage of time. 2 VRP at 449, 451-52, 454. Because objecting to evidence in the trial court on one ground does not preserve an objection on appeal based on any or all *other* grounds, we decline to consider Luna's argument as it relates to the broader evidence of the mall fight and confine our analysis to the video of the fight. See RAP 2.5(a); State v. Mason, 160 Wn.2d 910, 933, 162 P.3d 396 (2007); State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985).

Opinion at 12. Yet in her petition she again argues that the "[t]estimony about the mall fight with another girl six months prior was not admissible." Petition at 10 (emphasis supplied).

The Court of Appeals also rejected her challenge to the video itself as unpreserved.

With respect to the admission of the video particularly, Luna argues in her brief that the video was unduly prejudicial because it was "set to inflammatory music with violent lyrics" and because HD's testimony about the fight was sufficient to alert the jury that there had been a prior conflict between HD and SPT, rendering the video unnecessary. Br. of Appellant at 42. But Luna did not make this argument in the trial court

below. Luna's written response to the State's motion to admit ER 404(b) evidence focused primarily on case law and did not parse out the many different items of evidence the State sought to admit. The mall video is not mentioned at all in the written memorandum beyond it being lumped in with the other ER 404(b) evidence that Luna generally objected to on the ground that it did not show Luna's motive or intent to stab SPT. To the extent that Luna now argues that the mall video was unduly prejudicial because it was set to "inflammatory music," this argument is raised for the first time on appeal. *Id*.

#### Opinion at 12.

Despite the clear holding that these arguments were not preserved for review, Luna does not seriously address preservation in her petition. Although she briefly argues that the issues were preserved, it is notable that she cites to nowhere in the report of proceedings of the lengthy ER 404(b) hearing where she raised the claims pressed on appeal. A review of that transcript does not show that she did. *See* RP (9/19) 3-40. She cites to her pre-hearing brief. Petition at 18 (*citing* CP 73, 71-82, 122-26). The initial cited document does not so much as mention the video. The second document only mentions it in

passing while listing the evidence the State sought to admit. CP 123. At no point did she specifically raise the claims presented on appeal. Given that the opinion is unpublished and lacks precedential value, and given that the issues she raises in this Court was held unpreserved below, no "untenable conflict" exists and review should be denied.

# 2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the mall fight video was properly admitted as res gestae evidence.

Even were the claim limited to the issue addressed in the alternative<sup>2</sup> by the Court of Appeals, Luna would fail to show a conflict justifying review. Her formulaic reading of the res gestae rule provides an inadequate analysis of both the evidence in question and Washington precedent. Because the mall attack was the event that set in motion the series of events leading to Luna stabbing SPT to death, it was clearly directly relevant and admissible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Opinion at 13 ("Even assuming we should consider this particular argument for the first time on appeal").

Historically, the res gestae rule was seen as exception to ER 404(b). State v. Sullivan, 18 Wn. App. 2d 225, 235, 491 P.3d 176 (2021) (citing Karl B. Tegland, 5 Wash. Prac., § 404.18, at 527 (6th ed. 2016), and State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 431, 93 P.3d 969 (2004)), review denied, 198 Wn.2d 1037 (2022). More recently, the Court of Appeals has clarified that "res gestae evidence more appropriately falls within ER 401's definition of 'relevant' evidence, which is generally admissible under ER 402, rather than an exception to propensity evidence under ER 404(b).". Sullivan, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 236 (quoting State v. Dillon, 12 Wn. App. 2d 133, 148, 456 P.3d 1199 (internal quotation omitted), review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1022 (2020)). Thus, "evidence that completes the story of the crime charged or provides immediate context for events close in both time and place to that crime is not subject to the requirements of ER 404(b)." Sullivan, 18 Wn. App. 2d at 237 (emphasis supplied). Such evidence is not of *other* misconduct of the type addressed in ER 404(b). *Id.* (citing State v. Grier,

168 Wn. App. 635, 647, 278 P.3d 225 (2012)).

Luna argues only the second of the alternative bases for admitting res gestae evidence: that it provide immediate context close in time and place to the crime. Thus, she contends, an assault that occurred four months earlier is not res gestae evidence.

She ignores, however, the other language in the precedent, which, as emphasized above, is in the disjunctive: evidence that completes the story of the crime charged. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d 282, 296, 505 P.3d 529 (2022) (evidence that defendant had sexually abuse victim for a year prior to charged incident admissible as res gestae); *State v. Goheen-Rengo*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1020, 2018 WL 4583593, \*6 (2018)<sup>3</sup> (evidence of history of Department of Children Youth and Families involvement with defendant and his children for over a year prior to offense relevant to charge of unlawful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Unpublished; see GR 14.1(a).

imprisonment of CYF social workers).

Here, the mall altercation is what precipitated the events that led to the stabbing. Without it, why HD would purportedly be coming over for a "rematch" would make no sense. Nor would SPT's actions make sense without the background of the assault by Luna on her "sister." In short without the mall fight evidence, the entire crime would appear to the jury in a vacuum. It was therefore highly relevant and properly admitted under ER 401 and ER 402.

# 3. Luna's claim that the evidence was inadmissible due to her age was not preserved below.

Luna next claims that under *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012), and similar cases that the mall fight evidence was also inadmissible. This creative claim was not raised at trial and was inadequately briefed in the Court of Appeals and should not be considered now.<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals rejected this claim as inadequately

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Luna now makes passing reference that suggesting this novel

#### briefed and unpreserved:

Relying on cases dealing with juvenile sentencing, Luna argues for the first time on appeal that because of her age, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of the mall fight because of the impetuosity of juveniles and their diminished ability to appreciate consequences. The State asks us not to consider this new claim for the first time on appeal. Because Luna cites no cases suggesting that a trial court must consider the mitigating qualities of youth when deciding whether to admit evidence, this argument was not sufficiently developed below and we decline to consider this issue for the first time in this appeal. *State v. Davis*, 141 Wn.2d 798, 850, 10 P.3d 977 (2000).

Opinion at 14 n.4. Because this conclusion is neither contrary to any precedent nor remedied with any citation to controlling authority in the present petition, this Court should decline to consider this issue.

issue was preserved because she referred to herself as a "teenage girl" in her trial brief. Petition at 18. But that was certainly not presented to the trial court as something it should consider in light of *Miller*.

# B. THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF INADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE DID NOT VIOLATE LUNA'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to present relevant, admissible evidence in his defense. State v. Rehak, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992), review denied, 120 Wn .2d 1022, cert. denied, 508 U.S. 953 (1993). However, "a criminal defendant has no constitutional right to have irrelevant evidence admitted in his or her defense. State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 925, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (quoting State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)). "All relevant evidence is admissible, except as limited by constitutional requirements or as otherwise provided by statute, by these rules, or by other rules or regulations applicable in the courts of this state. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible." ER 402. The right of a criminal defendant to present evidence is not unfettered and the refusal to admit evidence lies largely within the trial court's sound discretion. *Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. at 162.

Luna fails to show any abuse of discretion at trial or error on the part of the Court of Appeals.

# 1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Luna's proffered social media exhibits.

Luna first faults the trial court for excluding certain social media posts. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

The trial court carefully considered Luna's proposed exhibits. 4RP 1154-93. Contrary to the implication in her brief, it admitted a number of them:<sup>5</sup>

Exhibit 160, in which Luna liked SPT's posts. 4RP 1167.

Exhibit 161A, in which SPT purportedly "adopted" a post in which another person said, "don't let me get mad, i'll fuck up the energy. ain't nobody having fun." 4RP 1172.

Exhibit 161B, in which SPT posted "I'm finna ruin this bitch life real quick brb." And "\*\*Me, 3 hours in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Luna also implied that the court admitted all the State's proposed exhibits, which is simply untrue. Brief of Appellant at 53; *see* RP (9/19) 41.

relationship\*\* "I don't think I can do this anymore." 4RP 1173.

Exhibit 161F, in which SPT posted, "& my older sisters" in response to post that said "Disrespecting my sister \*\*\*\*\* would not recommend. i'll fuck you up." 4RP 1179.

Exhibit 161G, in which SPT posted, that she got a scar on her knee "Fighting at Walmart." 4RP 1180.

Exhibit 161I, in SPT posted a gif and commented "I will beat ur ass." 4RP 1184.

Exhibit 161L, which contained a number of SPT's posts that Luna interpreted to mean "I want to fight you. Here's my address. That's what she leaves it at. This whole conversation results in this, that [SPT] wants to fight this girl and is going to send her her address to do that." 4RP 1190-91.

The court found the remaining exhibits Luna identifies in her brief were insufficiently probative:

Exhibit 159 was a picture of SPT standing with a beer, which the court found was not probative of anything. 4RP

1155. Luna does not offer any explanation in her brief showing this exhibit was relevant.

Exhibit 161D, which was SPT's re-post of a meme that said "My family needs a cousins only retreat. No aunties and uncles. Just straight ignorance and illegal activities" was excluded because it "It is simply not specific enough. Illegal activities is straight -- it's not admissible under the rule of relevance." 4RP 1177.

Exhibit 161E was another meme SPT posted showing some cartoon women with the caption ""You had all that mouth when I was pregnant, bitch wassup???!!" The court excluded it on grounds of relevance and under ER 403. 4RP 1178.

Exhibit 161H, was someone else's post that SPT shared. It showed three pictures of gloves, with the original poster's caption "gucci gloves" to which someone else responded, "i want to murder my husband in these." The court declined to admit it because it was unclear which sentiment SPT was

endorsing, and further because whatever relevance was "far outweighed by the prejudicial effect." 4RP 1182.

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